Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Court Administrator and Clerk Electronically FILED on 10/10/2017 by Francisco Coello, Deputy Clerk

CASE #: S244751

S			

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT **OF THE** STATE OF CALIFORNIA

#### KURT STOETZL, ET AL.

Respondents-Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

#### STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES, ET AL.

Petitioners-Defendants-Respondents.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the First Appellate District, Division One, 1st Civil No. A142832

After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of California, County of San Francisco, Case Number CJC11004661, The Honorable John E. Munter

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

#### ISSUES PRESENTED

Petitioners submit the following issues for this Court's consideration on review:

1. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in holding the definition of "hours worked" found in the Industrial Wage Commission's Wage Order No.

4, as opposed to the definition of that term found in the federal Fair Labor Standards Act, constitutes the controlling legal standard for determining the compensability of the Unrepresented Employee subclass' preliminary and postliminary "walk time."

2. Whether the Court of Appeal erred in holding that the Unrepresented Employee subclass can pursue a common law breach of contract claim for unpaid overtime, without adducing evidence at trial of an implied contract from which such contractual obligations may be derived.

II.

#### WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW

This Court should grant review of that portion of the Court of Appeal's decision reversing the trial court's judgment finding in favor of Petitioners against the Unrepresented Employee subclass.

As this Court has observed, "[u]nder the California Constitution it is the Legislature ... that generally possesses the ultimate authority to establish or revise the terms and conditions of state employment through legislative enactments..." (Professional Engineers in California Government v. Schwarzenegger (2010) 50 Cal.4th 989, 1015-1016.) The Court of Appeal's decision in this action improperly undermines the Legislature's constitutional authority because it fails to give proper deference to the Legislature's express delegation of authority to CalHR to establish rules and regulations governing the hours and wages of unrepresented state employees. In so doing, the Court of Appeal's decision imperils the decades-long method by which the State of California compensates unrepresented employees. Accordingly, review is necessary in this action to settle an important question

of law that has statewide implications. (See Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

This class action constitutes what commonly is known as a "walk time" case. In this action, the plaintiff class¹ alleges it was not paid for preand post-work activities (hereinafter, "PPWA") that consisted of time spent walking from the entrance of state correctional facilities to plaintiffs' posts in those facilities.

Pursuant to the stipulation of the parties, the trial court "trifurcated" this case for trial. The first phase, the phase at issue here, consisted of a bench trial of certain foundational legal issues on which the plaintiffs needed to prevail in order for the case to proceed.

The class certified by the trial court consists of,

[a]ll persons who are or who have been employed as Correctional Officers, Correctional Sergeants, Correctional Lieutenants, Medical Technical Assistants, Senior Medical Technical Assistants, Correctional Counselors I, Correctional Counselors II, Youth Correctional Officers, and/or Youth Correctional Counselors to work at adult or youth correctional institutions within the California Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation in the period commencing April 9, 2005 until the notice of pendency of this class action is given.

On January 6, 2012, the trial court approved the parties' stipulation dividing the plaintiff class into two subclasses: Represented Employees, whose employment with the State of California is governed by the Ralph C. Dills Act ("Dills Act," Gov. Code § 3512, et seq.) and Unrepresented Employees, i.e., excluded supervisory employees whose employment with the State of California is governed by the Bill of Rights for State Excluded Employees (Gov. Code § 3525, et seq.).

The first of these legal issues that is relevant here involved the question of what legal standard governs the determination of whether the disputed PPWA constituted compensable hours of work: California's "control" test, as embodied in the Industrial Wage Commission's (IWC), Wage Order No. 4 (i.e., "the time during which an employee is subject to the control of an employer" – see Cal. Code Regs, tit. 8, § subd. (2)(K)); Morillion v. Royal Packing Company (2000) 22 Cal.4th 575) or the definition of compensable hours of work found in the Fair Labor Standards Act. ("FLSA," 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq.) (i.e., an activity must be integral and indispensable to the principal activities that an employee is employed to perform to be compensable – see Integrity Staffing Solutions, Inc. v. Busk (2014) 135 S.Ct. 513, 519). Petitioners argued at trial that for the Represented Employee subclass, the FLSA standard was controlling as a result of a series of collectively bargained memoranda of understanding (MOUs) negotiated between the parties pursuant to the Ralph C. Dills Act ("Dills Act," Gov. Code § 3512, et seq.) dating back to 1998. For the Unrepresented Employee subclass, Petitioners argued at trial that the FLSA standard was controlling as a result of pay scales adopted by the CalHR pursuant to express authority delegated to it by the Legislature. Because application of the FLSA, and particularly the Portal-to-Portal Act (29 U.S.C. §§ 251-262), "relieves an employer of responsibility for compensating employees for activities which are preliminary or postliminary to the

principal activity or activities of a given job" (*Bamonte v. City of Mesa* (9th Cir. 2010) 598 F.3d 1217, 1221), Petitioners argued the claims of both subclasses could not proceed as a matter of law.

The second foundational issue submitted to the trial court in Phase 1 that is relevant here was whether the plaintiff class could proceed with a common law breach of contract action based on CalHR policies establishing rules and regulations for hours and wages of state employees. Petitioners argued at trial that plaintiffs' failed to establish that the disputed policies created implied contractual obligations pursuant to this Court's test in *Retired Employees Association of Orange County, Inc. v. County of Orange* ["Retired Employees"] (2011) 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1189. Specifically, Petitioners argued that because neither the express language of the CalHR policies in question nor the circumstances surrounding their adoption "clearly evince[d] an intent to contract as opposed to an intent to make policy" (id.), the plaintiff class could not ground their implied contract claim in those policies.

Following the trial of Phase 1, the trial court issued its Statement of Decision (Appellants' Appendix ["AA"], Vol. 20, p. AA005409.) in which it agreed with Petitioners that the FLSA controlled the determination of whether the disputed PPWA constituted compensable hours of work for both the Represented Employee and Unrepresented Employee subclasses. The trial court further agreed that plaintiffs had failed to establish the existence

of either an express or implied contract for payment of overtime. Accordingly, the trial court entered judgment in favor of Petitioners and the plaintiff class appealed.

On appeal, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court's decision as to the Represented Employee subclass on both of the above issues, but reversed as to those issues with respect to the Unrepresented Employee subclass. It is that portion of the Court of Appeal's decision reversing the trial court's judgment regarding the Unrepresented Employee subclass on which Petitioners now seek review.

With respect to the question of the governing legal standard for determining the compensability of the Unrepresented Employees' PPWA, the Court of Appeal characterized the question as a "close one," but concluded, "[o]n this record," the definition of "hours worked" found in the IWC's Wage Order No. 4 governed the determination of whether the disputed PPWA constituted compensable hours of work. (Slip Opn., p. 18-19.) The Court of Appeal's conclusion on this issue is flawed for several reasons.

First, the Court of Appeal's decision is contrary to the express authority granted to CalHR by the Legislature to utilize FLSA standards for measuring employees' hours of work. This authority emanates from a series of Government Code sections enacted in 1981. (See Stats. 1981, Ch. 230, Sec. 55), Thus, CalHR's reliance upon, and exercise of, its legislatively

delegated authority predates the adoption of the 2001 IWC Wage Order No. 4 by twenty years.

Second, the decision fails to take into account, or even meaningfully address, the substantial evidence establishing the long history of the state using the FLSA as the standard for determining the compensable hours of work for unrepresented employees based on the express authorization to do so granted by the Legislature.

Finally, while the Court of Appeal purports to "harmonize" the IWC's Wage Order No. 4 with the CalHR pay scales (see Court of Appeal's decision, p. 19), its decision only serves to create an untenable, and ultimately irreconcilable, conflict in the methodology for establishing compensable hours of work for unrepresented state employees.

The Court of Appeal's decision reversing the trial court's judgment in favor of Petitioners on the Unrepresented Employees' common law contract claim is equally flawed.

First, the decision that the Unrepresented Employee subclass may proceed with a common law breach of contract claim relies on the erroneous decision that the California "control" test, rather than the FLSA "principal activity" test applies to the Unrepresented Employee subclass. (Slip Opn., p. 24.) Because the Court of Appeal's erroneous conclusion that the control test applies to the Unrepresented Employee subclass serves as the predicate

for its conclusion regarding the common law breach of contract claim, that conclusion is equally in error and should be reversed.

Furthermore, the Court of Appeal's decision in favor of the Unrepresented Employee subclass on the common law breach of contract claim improperly fails to apply this Court's test as stated in *Retired Employees*, *supra*, 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1189. Contrary to the decision in that case, the Court of Appeal's decision here neither identifies specific policies on which the Unrepresented Employee subclass may base its common law contract theory nor how either the express language of those policies or the circumstances surrounding their adoption "clearly evince an intent to contract, *as opposed to an intent to make policy.*" (*Ibid.*)

In order to resolve these important questions of law and to ensure uniformity of decision, Petitioners urge this Court to grant review of that portion of the Court of Appeal's decision reversing the trial court's judgment in favor of Petitioners and against the Unrepresented Employee subclass.

III.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. Statement of Facts.

#### 1. The Parties.

#### (a) Petitioners.

Petitioners in this action are the State of California and three of its Departments: CDCR, DSH, and CalHR. CDCR operates the state prison

system and employs over 40,000 employees, who are primarily assigned to work at one or more of the 34 adult correctional facilities and three youth correctional facilities throughout California. During the class period, DSH operated a psychiatric program within two CDCR adult correctional facilities: the Salinas Valley Psychiatric Program located within Salinas Valley State Prison and the Vacaville Psychiatric Program located within the California Medical Facility.<sup>2</sup>

CalHR was created on July 1, 2012 to consolidate the former Department of Personnel Administration and certain programs of the State Personnel Board. For employees covered by the Ralph C. Dills Act ("Dills Act"), CalHR acts on behalf of the Governor, as the state employer, to collectively bargain with the recognized employee organization regarding terms and conditions of employment. (Gov. Code § 3517.) In the case of managerial or supervisory employees, who are exempted from coverage under the Dills Act and subject to the Bill of Rights of State Excluded Employees, CalHR is responsible for establishing rules and regulations regarding the terms and conditions of their employment. (Gov. Code §§ 3525, et seq.) This responsibility is delegated to CalHR by the Legislature through various Government Code sections, including without limitation, sections 19826, 19843 to 19845, 19848, and 19849.

\_

As of July 1, 2017, CDCR operates all psychiatric facilities within state correctional facilities.

#### (b) The Unrepresented Employee Subclass.

The Unrepresented Employee subclass consists of excluded supervisory employees who were employed at CDCR or DHS during the class period of April 9, 2005 to December 6, 2011. (See footnote 1, *supra*, for the full definition of the plaintiff class and subclasses.)

## 2. Labor Relations Between the State and Unrepresented Employees.

Pursuant to the Bill of Rights for State Excluded Employees, Government Code section 3525, et seq., employees in the Unrepresented Employee subclass are not permitted to collectively bargain for their wages, hours, or other terms and conditions of employment. (AA, Vol. 3, p. AA000605.) Instead, the Legislature has delegated to CalHR the authority to adopt rules and regulations establishing unrepresented state employees' wages and working hours. (See California Assn. of Professional Scientists v. Department of Finance (2011) 195 Cal.App.4th 1228, 1232; see also, Lowe v. Cal. Resources Agency (1991) 1 Cal.App.4th 1140, 1151 ["[s]etting compensation for employees is a legislative function"], citing State Trial Attorney's Association v. State of California (1976) 63 Cal.App.3d 298, 303.)

The Legislature's delegation of this authority to CalHR is found in a series of Government Code sections. For instance, Government Code section 19826, subdivision (a) specifically delegates to CalHR the authority to set "establish and adjust salary ranges for each class of position in the state civil"

service." (AA, Vol. 13, p. AA003619.) Government Code section 19843, subdivision (a) grants to CalHR the authority to "establish and adjust workweek groups and [to] assign each class or position to a workweek group." (AA, Vol. 13, p. AA003621.) Government Code section 19844, subdivision (a) authorizes CalHR to "establish the method by which ordered overtime or overtime in times of critical emergency is compensated." (AA, Vol. 13, p. AA003622.) Government Code section 19845, subdivision (a) authorizes CalHR "to provide for overtime payments *as prescribed by the federal Fair Labor Standards Act* to state employees." (AA, Vol. 13, p. AA003623, emphasis added.) Finally, Government Code section 19849, subdivision (a) authorizes CalHR "to adopt rules governing working hours and overtime compensation." (AA, Vol. 13, p. AA003624.)

Based on the authority granted to it by the Legislature pursuant to these statutes, CalHR adopted regulations in 1983 pertaining to salary ranges, workweek groups, hours worked, and when overtime would be compensable. (See Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, §§ 599.702 [overtime must be authorized in advance and confirmed in writing], 599.704 [to be compensable it must be "ordered overtime"]; Statement of Decision pp. 12-13.) At the same time, CalHR exercised the authority granted it by the Legislature to "establish and adjust workweek groups and [to] assign each class or position to a workweek group" (Gov. Code § 19843, subd. (a)) by adopting the California Pay Scales Manual ("Pay Scales Manual"). (AA, Vols. 11-13, p. AA002794, et seq.)

At trial, David Gilb, the former CalHR Director, testified that the State's labor relations with unrepresented employees are governed by authority delegated to CalHR through these code sections. (RT, Vol. 4, 451:2-10.) Based on his personal knowledge as former CalHR Director, Mr. Gilb testified the Legislature has charged CalHR with administering these statutes and that, as CalHR's Director, he understood these statutes to delegate to CalHR the legislative prerogative to establish terms and conditions of employment for unrepresented employees. (RT, Vol. 4, 455:2-19; 458:22-459:8; 464:1-15; 464:24-465:17; 465:22-466:10.)

Pursuant to the authority delegated it by the Legislature, Mr. Gilb testified CalHR developed and adopted the Pay Scales Manual. (RT, Vol. 4, 467:9-468:5 (Gilb); AA, Vols. 11-13, AA p. 002794, *et seq.*) This manual documents the salary ranges for each employee class in the state civil service. (*Ibid.*) At trial, Mr. Gilb testified that each of the job classifications within the Unrepresented Employee subclass is designated as Work Week Group 2. (See generally, RT, Vol. 4, 474:22-485:25 (Gilb).) Mr. Gilb identified each of the job classifications in the Unrepresented Employee subclass in the appendix to the Pay Scale Manual, which lists those job classifications within Work Week Group 2. (*Ibid.*)

Section 10 of the Pay Scale Manual is entitled, "Work Week Groups Established Under The Fair Labor Standards Act." (AA, Vol. 11, pp. AA002996-2999.) Subsection (f) of Section 10 of the Pay Scale Manual

provides that "[t]he provisions of Work Week Group 2 are made applicable to all classes which are determined by the Director of the Department of Personnel Administration to include positions subject to the FLSA." (Id. at AA002997, emphasis added.) Mr. Gilb testified he and his predecessors determined that the positions in the Unrepresented Employee subclass, all of which are included in Work Week Group 2, are subject to the FLSA. (RT, Vol. 4, 472:17-473:15.)

#### B. Procedural History.

#### 1. Class Certification and Pretrial Proceedings.

This proceeding involves three coordinated class actions. Following the trial court's certification of the plaintiff class and the parties' stipulation to divide that class into two subclasses of Represented and Unrepresented Employees, the parties stipulated to try the case in successive phases. Phase 1, as agreed, consisted of a bench trial addressing several legal issues, including the following issues pertinent to this Petition: (1) Whether California's "control" standard or the FLSA standard ("first principal activity of the day") applies for determining the compensability of the disputed PPWA and (2) whether plaintiffs could pursue a common law breach of contract claim.

#### 2. Trial Court Judgment.

Following the Phase 1 trial, the trial court ruled in favor of Petitioners.

With respect to the applicable legal standard for determining the

compensability of PPWA, the trial court found CalHR had acted within its legislatively delegated authority in applying the FLSA definition of hours worked to the Unrepresented Employee subclass. (AA, Vol. 20, p. AA005431.) With respect to the breach of common law contract claim, the trial court ruled plaintiffs failed to adduce evidence at trial establishing the existence of a contract that would support the obligation to pay overtime. (AA, Vol. 20, p. AA005434.) Accordingly, based on the controlling law and substantial evidence in the record, the trial court entered judgment for Petitioners.

#### 3. The Court Of Appeal Decision.

The plaintiff class appealed to the First District Court of Appeal, arguing the legislative authority delegated to CalHR could not, and did not, supersede Wage Order 4 or its definition of "hours worked." Plaintiffs further argued they had established the requisite elements for their common law breach of contract claim. In a published decision dated August 31, 2017, the First Appellate District affirmed the trial court's judgment against the Represented Employee subclass but reversed the judgment as to the Unrepresented Employee subclass. As discussed in greater detail below, the Court of Appeal held that IWC Wage Order No. 4 applies to public employees not subject to the Dills Act and establishes the standard for determining the compensability for hours worked. The Court of Appeal further held that the Unrepresented Employee subclass may proceed with

their claim for common law breach of contract "based on the overtime policies in effect at the time they performed that work." The Court of Appeal's decision became final on September 30, 2017.

#### IV.

#### **ARGUMENT**

## A. Review Should be Granted In This Action To Settle Important Questions Of Law And To Ensure Uniformity of Decision On Issues of Statewide Importance.

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