S244751

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

KURT STOETZL, ET AL.

Respondents-Plaintiffs-Appellants,

v.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DEPARTMENT OF HUMAN RESOURCES, ET AL.

Petitioners-Defendants-Respondents.

On Review From The Court Of Appeal For the First Appellate District, Division One, 1st Civil No. A142832

After An Appeal From the Superior Court For The State of California, County of San Francisco, Case Number CJC11004661, The Honorable John E. Munter

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

KRONICK, MOSKOVITZ, TIEDEMANN & GIRARD

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

ARGUMENT

A. <u>The Petition For Review Filed By The Employee Subclass Should</u> <u>Be Denied Because It Does Not Present Unsettled Questions of</u> <u>Law The Resolution Of Which Is Necessary To Ensure</u> <u>Uniformity of Decision</u>

This Court should deny review of that portion of the Court of Appeal's decision affirming the trial court's judgment in favor of the State Parties and against the Represented Employee subclass. The issue of the constitutional and statutory authority of the California Legislature to adopt the terms and conditions of state employment through the approval of MOUs is one this Court already has addressed in cases such as *Professional Engineers, supra,* 50 Cal.4th 989, 1015-1016. The noncompenability of PPWA under the FLSA also is well-established principle under the controlling statutes and regulations. (See 29 U.S.C. § 254.) Accordingly, review should not be granted because the Petition for Review filed by the Represented Employee subclass fails to present issues involving unsettled questions of law the resolution of which is necessary to ensure uniformity of decision on issues of statewide importance. (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500 (b)(1).)

B. <u>The 7k Schedule Contained In The Legislatively Approved MOUs</u> <u>Between The State Parties And The Represented Employee</u> <u>Subclass Includes The FLSA Standard For Compensable Hours</u> <u>Worked</u>

A central premise to the Represented Employees' challenge to the Court of Appeal's decision is "the 7k exemption ... has nothing to do with the federal or state minimum wage." (Petition for Review, p. 18.) By mischaracterizing the relevant analysis as beginning with the minimum wage, the Represented Employee subclass leaps over the logical antecedent question, namely, whether the disputed time at issue is *compensable* under the applicable legal standard.

In the case of the Represented Employee subclass, the MOUs negotiated with State Parties pursuant to the Dills Act and enacted into law by the Legislature unequivocally establish the FLSA as the controlling legal standard for determining compensable hours worked. Because the Legislature determined the PPWA for which the Represented Employees seek compensation is governed exclusively by the FLSA, claims based on California state law necessarily fail as a matter of law.

Every MOU between the State Parties and the Represented Employee subclass since 1998 has contained a 7k schedule. Furthermore, those MOUs included language by which

CCPOA and the State agree that the employees listed below are working under the provisions of Section 207k of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) and the parties acknowledge that

the employer is declaring a specific exemption for these employees under the provisions specified herein.

,

(See (AA, Vol. 8, pp. 2037, 2087.)

The MOUs further provided,

The State and CCPOA agree that they have made a good faith attempt to comply with all requirements of the FLSA in negotiating this provision. ... CCPOA agrees that neither it nor any of its employees acting on their own behalf or in conjunction with other law firms shall bring any suit in court challenging the validity of this provision under the FLSA.

(Ibid.)

The Legislature approved this language by enacting the subject MOUs and the 7k schedule contained within them. In so doing, the Legislature implicitly applied the FLSA standard for measuring compensable hours of work inherent in the 7k schedule to the Represented Employee subclass, a conclusion underscored by the fact that there is no analog to the 7k schedule found in California law.

The FLSA concept of hours worked is inherent in the 7k schedule. 29 Code of Federal Regulations § 553.221, subdivision (a) specifically provides: "The general rules on compensable hours of work are set forth in 29 C.F.R. part 785, *which is applicable to employees for whom the 7(k) exemption is claimed.*" (Emphasis added.) While "[i]t is axiomatic, under the FLSA, that employers must pay employees for all 'hours worked'" (*Alvarez v. IBP, Inc.* (9th Cir. 2003) 339 F.3d 894, 903, *aff'd on other grounds sub nom. IBP v. Alvarez* (2005) 546 U.S. 21.), whether a particular activity meets the FLSA's definition of work "as a threshold matter does not mean without more that the activity is necessarily compensable." (*Ibid.*) This is because the FLSA, as amended by the Portal-to-Portal Act (29 U.S.C. §§ 251-262), "relieves an employer of responsibility for compensating employees for activities which are preliminary or postliminary to the principal activity or activities of a given job." (*Bamonte v. City of Mesa* (9th Cir. 2010) 598 F.3d 1217, 1221.) Specifically, 29 U.S.C. § 254, subsections (a)(1) and (2) provides in relevant part:

[N]o employer shall be subject to any liability or punishment under the Fair Labor Standards Act of 1938, ... on account of the failure of such employer to pay an employee minimum wages, or to pay an employee overtime compensation, for or on account of any of the following activities of such employee

> (1) walking, riding, or traveling to and from the actual place of performance of the principal activity or activities which such employee is employed to perform, and

(2) activities which are preliminary to or postliminary to said principal activity or activities,

which occur either prior to the time on any particular workday at which such employee commences, or subsequent to the time on any particular workday at which he ceases, such principal activity or activities. ...

The Supreme Court has interpreted this section to apply when an activity before the commencement of, or after the completion of, the principal work activity is not an "integral and indispensable part of [an

ŝ

employee's] principal activities." (*Steiner v. Mitchell* (1956) 300 U.S. 247, 256.)

The Supreme Court explained these FLSA compensability standards in *Integrity Staffing Solutions, Inc. v. Busk* (2015) 135 S.Ct. 513. In that case, the Supreme Court held that time spent by employees waiting in a security line upon exiting from work at the end of their shifts did not constitute compensable time worked under the FLSA. In so ruling, the Court specifically held as follows:

We hold that an activity is integral and indispensable to the principal activities that an employee is employed to perform – and thus compensable under the FLSA – if it is an intrinsic element of those activities and one with which the employee cannot dispense if he is to perform his principal activities.

(*Id.*, at 519.)

These FLSA compensability standards are inseparable from the 7k schedule to which the State Parties and Represented Employees consistently have agreed since 1998. And these are the compensability standards the Legislature consistently has applied to the Represented Employees since 1998 by enacting the various MOUs negotiated by the State Parties and the Represented Employees under the Dills Act. At both the trial court and Court of Appeal, the Represented Employee subclass made the same arguments they make here to escape the impact of the Legislature's adoption of the 7k schedule and the FLSA compensability standards inherent with that schedule. Represented Employees fail to make the case in their Petition for

Review why the result should be any different before this Court. Accordingly, their Petition for Review should be denied.

C. <u>The Legislature's Adoption Of A Specific FLSA-Based Method</u> <u>For Compensating Represented Employees Disposes Of Their</u> <u>Minimum Wage Claim</u>

1. Represented Employees Cannot Rely On General Minimum Wage Statutes Or The IWC's Wage Orders To Overcome The Specificity Of The Legislatively Adopted MOUs

The Legislature's approval of a specific, FLSA-based method for compensating Represented Employees disposes of their reliance on the general minimum wage provisions found in the Labor Code and the IWC wage orders, including but not limited to, the requirement in Labor Code section 1194 that employers must pay their employees the state minimum wage "[n]otwithstanding any agreement to work for a lesser wage." (See Petition for Review, p. 16.) Application of the FLSA's compensability standard to the Represented Employee does not emanate from "any agreement." Rather, it is the result of legislative fiat manifested through the Legislature's adoption of a specific standard for measuring Represented Employees' compensable hours of work through its enactment of the subject MOUs.

Neither the general minimum wage statutes found in the Labor Code, nor the IWC's wage orders, can be read as a limitation on the Legislature's constitutional and statutory authority to establish a more specifically

applicable method for measuring the compensable hours of a particular group of state employees, such as the Represented Employee subclass. The language of the legislatively approved MOUs in this case specifically provides that the Represented Employees "are working under the provisions" of Section 207k of the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA)." The 7k schedule to which the Represented Employees were assigned pursuant to these MOUs specifically includes the FLSA's standards regarding compensable hours of work. (See 29 C.F.R. §553.221, subd. (a).) Accordingly, the action taken by the Legislature approving a specific, FLSA-based schedule that includes a method for measuring Represented Employees' compensable hours of work overrides application of the more general provisions of the Labor Code or IWC wage orders. As the Court of Appeal concluded, "the more specific provision takes precedent over the more general one. (Salazar v. Eastin (1995) 9 Cal.4th 836, 857, internal citations omitted. See Slip Opn., p. 15.) There is nothing novel in this conclusion that warrants review and, therefore, the present Petition for Review should be denied.

2. The Legislature's Adoption Of A Specific FLSA-Based Method For Compensating Represented Employees Also Disposes Of Their Waiver Argument

Represented Employees repeat the same argument in their Petition for Review as they unsuccessfully made in the both the Court of Appeal and trial court, namely, that statutory wage rights cannot be waived through the collective bargaining process. Represented Employees make the

unsupportable claim that because statutory rights cannot be waived through the collective bargaining process, the Legislature cannot affect such rights through its adoption of an MOU. (Petition for Review, pp. 15-16.) By ignoring the Legislature's well established constitutional authority over state employment, Represented Employees' argument, if adopted, would effectively sideline the Legislature and impermissibly restrict its prerogatives when it comes to determining the terms and conditions of state employment. As the Court of Appeal found, Represented Employees' waiver argument is flawed, because it ignores the fact that the MOUs in this case were enacted by the Legislature, signed by the Governor, and chaptered into law by the Secretary of State like any other statutory enactment adopted by the Legislature. (AA, Vol. 20, p. AA005429.) Thus, the applicability of the FLSA here does not involve a question of waiver, but a recognition of legislative fiat over the terms and conditions of state employment.

Represented Employees' reliance on *Gentry v. Superior Court* (Circuit City Stores, Inc.) (2007) 42 Cal.4th 443 as support for their wavier argument is misplaced because the case is inapposite. (See Petition for Review, p. 16.) *Gentry* involved the issue of whether class arbitration waivers in employment agreements could be enforced to preclude class arbitration of statutory overtime claims. (See *Gentry, supra*, 42 Cal.4th at 450.) *Gentry* did not involve the question of the scope of, or any limitations upon, the Legislature's authority to adopt the FLSA as the controlling legal

standard for determining compensable hours of work. In fact, none of the cases on which Represented Employees rely involve the question whether the California State Legislature's authority to set the terms and conditions of state employment by enacting specific provisions contained in an MOU is somehow limited by the California Labor Code IWC wage order. (Petition for Review, p. 17.) (See *Retired Employees Assn. of Orange County v. County of Orange* (2 011) 52 Cal.4th 1171, 1179 [response to certified question from Ninth Circuit whether, as a matter of California law, a California county and its employees can form an implied contract that confers vested rights to health benefits on retired county employees]; *Glendale City Employees' Assn, Inc. v. City of Glendale* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 328, 331 [a local agency labor contract becomes binding on the local agency once ratified].)⁶

Moreover, Represented Employees' reliance on *Gentry* is notably misplaced as a result of this Court's determination that its holding in that case

⁶ In fact, *City of Glendale* supports State Parties' position here. It is well established that labor agreements entered into pursuant to the Dills Act that "once approved by the Legislature (either directly – see § 3517.5 – or through the appropriation of sufficient funds to pay the agreed-upon employee compensation), governs the wages and hours of the state employees covered by the MOU." (*Professional Engineers, supra,* 50 Cal.4th at 1040.) In the same way, *City of Glendale* holds that under the Meyers-Milias-Brown Act [Gov. Code § 3500, et seq.], "'the courts have uniformly held that a memorandum of understanding, once adopted by the governing body of a public agency, becomes a binding agreement.'" (15 Cal.3d at 337.)

"has been abrogated by recent United States Supreme Court precedent." (*Iskanian v. CLS Transportation, LLC* (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 359.) The fact that Represented Employees rely on a holding this Court has determined to be abrogated further underscores the lack of merit to their request for review of that portion of the Court of Appeal's decision affirming the trial court's judgment in favor of State Parties.

3. The Legislature's Constitutional And Statutory Authority To Set The Terms And Conditions Of State Employment Is Not Subordinate To The IWC Wage Orders

Represented Employees also cite to this Court's decision in *Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Superior Court (Hohnbaum)* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 1004, 1027, and the "extraordinary deference" to which the IWC Wage Orders are entitled as a basis for arguing the FLSA standard for compensable hours worked enacted by the Legislature through its enactment of the parties' MOUs should not be controlling. This argument ignores a different aspect of the Legislature's express constitutional authority from that of establishing the terms and conditions of state employment.

Article 14, section 1 of the California Constitution states: "The Legislature may provide for minimum wages and for the general welfare of employees and for those purposes may confer on a commission legislative, executive, and judicial powers." Based on this provision of the state constitution, any authority the IWC has to establish and impose a minimum wage in California derives solely from the delegation of authority granted to

it by the Legislature. (See Lab. Code § 1182.11.) There is neither evidence nor legal authority to support the proposition the Legislature intended to cede its own authority to the IWC or to give the IWC authority over it with respect to establishing the terms and conditions of state employment.

As the trial court ruled and the Court of Appeal affirmed, the MOUs approved by the Legislature establishing the Represented Employees' terms and conditions of employment means those "terms and conditions of employment are governed by specific statutory provisions. It defies logic and law to suggest that the IWC could lawfully issue a general regulation inconsistent with specific statutory law and thereby supersede that law." (AA, Vol. 20, pp. AA005431-5432.) Accordingly, the "extraordinary deference" to which the IWC wage orders normally are entitled has no application here in the face of an expression of contrary intent by the Legislature through its enactment of more specific MOU language imposing the FLSA standard for compensable hours worked on Represented Employees.

4. The Court of Appeal's Decision Neither Places Other State Employees "At Risk" Nor "Emasculates" The Minimum Wage

Finally, in what can only be characterized as overblown rhetoric, Represented Employees argue the Court of Appeal's decision threatens to leave other state employees without the benefit of the state minimum wage and "emasculates" state employees' right to receive wages for all hours

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